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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

EAST POINT SYSTEMS, INC.,
THOMAS MARGARIDO, JASON
MARGARIDO, AND PAUL TAFF,

Plaintiffs, .: CIVIL ACTION NO.:
) 3:13-cv-00215VAB)
V.

STEVEN MAXIM, S2K, INC., MAXIM

ENTERPRISES, INC., MAXIM FIELD

SERVICE SUPPLY, INC., EDWIN :

PAJEMOLA, AND CLEVELAND FIELD : MARCH 22,2016
SYSTEMS, LLC, )

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

Plaintiffs, East Point Systems, Inc., ThesrMargarido, Jason Margarido and Paul Taff,
brought this action against Defemdls, Steven Maxim, S2K, ¢n, Maxim Enterprises, Inc.,
Maxim Field Service Supply, Inc. (collectiveljne “Maxim Defendants”), Edwin Pajemola, and
Cleveland Field Systems, LLC (collectivelyettPajemola Defendants”). The Court held a
four-day bench trial, and now sets forthfitalings of fact and conclusions of law undederal
Rule of Civil Pocedure 52(a)(1).

As explained below, the Court finds fine Maxim Defendants on Counts One through
Eight, and Ten through Fourteen. The Court fifmd$Plaintiffs on Count Nine and orders S2K,
Inc. to sell its shares of EaRBbint Systems, Inc. for $57,000. The Court also finds for Plaintiffs
on Count Fifteen and establishes a constructiws tver any Field Navigator software in the
Maxim Defendants’ possession containing Field-Comm.net database tables.

The Court finds for Plaintiffs on Countseizien through Thirteen against the Pajemola

Defendants and awards $750,000 in damages aadditional $100,000 in punitive damages, as
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well as reasonable costs and attorney’s fees.Cbhet also finds for Platiffs on Count Fifteen
and imposes a constructive trust on any Field gter software in the Pajemola Defendants’
possession containing Fie@mm.net database takl Finally, the Court permanently enjoins
the Pajemola Defendants from usingotrerwise disposing of such software.

This memorandum addresses motions pending against the Pajemola Defendants for
contempt, default judgment, and dismissalairtterclaims. For the reasons explained below,
Plaintiffs’ Motion for Contempt (ECF No. B3 is GRANTED IN PART AND DENIED IN
PART. Plaintiffs’ Motion to Dismiss Counterchas for Failure to Prosecute (ECF No. 150) is
GRANTED. Plaintiffs’ Motion for Default Judgent (ECF No. 152) is GRANTED IN PART
AND DENIED IN PART. Maxim Déendants’ Motion for Default Judgment (ECF No. 151) is
FOUND AS MOOT.

l. FINDINGS OF FACT

The patrties to this action operate in thertgage field service industry, which provides
preservation services for mortged properties in default or farlosure. Lenders and national
mortgage servicing companies typically engegggonal service companies, which, in turn,
typically engage subcontractdsperform preservation seeés on properties in default or
foreclosure, such as drive-by inspections, rmgwawns, changing locks, and winterizing.

In 1996, Thomas Margarido and Paul Taffjae doing business together to develop
software for the mortgage field service industry. They formed East Point Systems, LLC for that
purpose. Thomas Margarido’s son, Jason, halpedloped the software and eventually became
an owner of East Point Systems, LLC. eTihitial version of the software was called
Field-Comm, and was developed using a tookdatileMaker Pro. It took several years to

develop, test, and market.



Field-Comm facilitated the processing of wanklers for mortgage field services. Users
could upload work orders to Field-Comm, dfdld-Comm could automatically assign work
orders to contractotsased on certain date.g, the service requested the location of the
property), track the status of work ordealiow field workers taupload photographs of
completed work, track the history of servigesformed on properties, automatically create
invoices, process payments, and generate reports.

Initially, East Point Systems, LLC licers€&ield-Comm to customers for a $1,500 fee.
Customers received compact discs containingdifievare, and installed the software on their
computers. Later, instead of the $1,500 fest Paint Systems, LLCharged its customers a
monthly fee, and charged “per click” fees fmrticular transaains conducted within
Field-Comm. Regional service companies would‘jp&y click” fees for particular transactions
that they conducted, and subcontractors of tg@nal service companies would also pay “per
click” fees for particular trasactions that they conducteBield-Comm was not web-based.
Only computers on which Field-Comm had béwestalled could access and use Field-Comm.

East Point Systems, LLC licensed Field-Comm to Steven Maxim’s father for use in his
business, Maxim Enterprises, Inc. (“MEI"'When Steven Maxim took over MEI, he discovered
Field-Comm and contacted Thomdargarido. Thomas Margdo trained Steven Maxim on
Field-Comm in or about 1999. MEI thesed Field-Comm in its business.

MEI was a regional service company. It atioated subcontractots perform mortgage
field services in some northestates. MEI received workaers from lenders and national
servicing companies, distributed those work sde subcontractors, and reported back to the
lenders and national servicing companieewthe work was done. Some of MEI's

subcontractors actually performed the work, whileers were contractors who, in turn, engaged



subcontractors to perform the work. To makeney, MEI retained 1&® 20 percent of the
money that lenders and national semgccompanies paid to have work done.

In or about 2004, Thomas Margarido told ®teWaxim that East Point Systems, LLC
might go out of business withoutash infusion, and that, if it weatt of business, it would not
be able to support Field-Comm alapger. Steven Maxim inquireabout investing in East Point
Systems, LLC. Following negotiations, East Point Systems, LLC was reorganized into East
Point Systems, Inc. (“East Point”). S2K¢lIr{*S2K”), a hardware retail company owned by
Steven Maxim, purchased shares of FBasht for $250,000, and Steven Maxim took a position
on the board of directors &ast Point (the “Board”).

Several agreements were entered into atithis. First, Paul Taff, Thomas Margarido,
Jason Margarido, and S2K entered into a Shadelh@greement. Second, Paul Taff, Thomas
Margarido, Jason Margarido, and S2K entered an@ross Purchase Agreement. Third, East
Point and S2K entered into a ConfidentialihddNon-Competition Agreeemt. Fourth, East
Point and Steven Maxim entered into a Gaerfitiality and Non-Competition Agreement.

While on the Board, Steven Maxim participdtin meetings regarding the general
direction of East Point, large expenditurasj arincipal compensatiorte periodically engaged
a financial professional to review East Poittitteoks and records. He also proposed numerous
enhancements to Field-Comm. For examipéeproposed that Field-Comm have a reverse
payment feature, so that if a lender or sengicompany underpaid ferservice, Field-Comm
could reverse any payment already made to a subcontractor for that service. East Point did not
implement this feature immedéy, however. Steven Maxim came up with many ideas for
improving Field-Comm, but East Point was unablénplement enhancements as quickly as

Steven Maxim wanted themrfase in his business, MEI.



In 2004, Steven Maxim proposed transitioning Field-Comm to a web-based format. The
other principals of East Point rejected thisposal. They believatiat transitioning to a
web-based format was too risky becauséhattime, the tools for web-based software
development either did not exist or were untgia East Point instead developed the next
version of its software using Microsoft's .NET rin@awork. The principals of East Point believed
that the .NET framework was more stablel|lwleveloped, and posed less risk than the
then-existing tools for web-based software develapm East Point called the next version of its
software Field-Comm.net, and began offering itustomers in 2005. East Point registered a
copyright for Field-Comm.net. The effective dafahat copyright registration was November
20, 2012. PIs." Ex. 7.

Field-Comm.net was an improvement of#&ld-Comm. East Point could send
downloadable software updates to customerg;iwivas not possible with Field-Comm. Also,
users could access Field-Comm.net through bvetwsers, whereas Field-Comm could be
accessed only from computers on which it was installed.

Despite its improvements, however, fte\Maxim encountered problems with
Field-Comm.net. He found it cumbersome — it sometimes timed out — and payment processing
errors resulted in MEI overpaying contra approximately $100,000 diog one period. Also,
Steven Maxim wanted the ability to perform adseah data analytics. He wanted to track and
measure how much time, money, and staff wastapemarious jobs so that MEI could identify
and remedy inefficiencies. Field-Comm.net caubd perform data analytics to Steven Maxim’s
satisfaction.

Steven Maxim told the principals of Ed&&bint that he was expgencing issues with

Field-Comm.net, and that he wantedmprove the software’s dasaalytics capabilities. East



Point agreed to “branch” the code. That isstBoint created a copy of Field-Comm.net’s code
to which MEI could make modifications toemt its business objectiveMEI's branch was
isolated from the code drivingdlsoftware that East Point’s otlmistomers used. As a result,
modifications that MEI made to its branch aiot affect any other customer’s software.

Around the same time, East Point referred anmss analyst to Steven Maxim to help
address his issues with Field-Comm.net. That business analyst referred Steven Maxim to a
software developer named Edwin Pajemola. MEI engaged Edwin Pajemola to develop
modifications to its branch.

To facilitate the modification of MEI's brah¢ East Point agreed to give MEI and Edwin
Pajemola access to Field-Comm.net’s source code and database. In December 2008, two
agreements were entered iipthe various parties.

First, East Point, MEI, and Edwin Pajemelatered into a Software Source Code Access
and Indemnity Agreement.Under this agreement, Eastift@yave MEI and Edwin Pajemola
access to Field-Comm.net’s source code and database for the purpose of enabling MEI to modify
its copy of Field-Comm.net.

Second, East Point and Steven Maxim, bothviddally and as a duly authorized official
of MEI, entered into a Confidentiality amtbn-Competition Agreement. This agreement
acknowledged the Software Source Code As@nd Indemnity Agreement, and set forth
restrictions on the use of certain infation disclosed under that agreement.

Field-Comm.net had two main components:g Hatabase and (2) an application that

allowed users to add data to and retrieve data from the database.

! Two copies of the Software Source Code Access and IrijeAgreement were admitteat trial. One is signed
only by Steven Maxim as president of MEI. The other is signed only by Edwin Pajemola as MEL'sNejédr is
executed by East Point. The two copies differ sligintfiprmat, but appear to bdentical in substanceseePls.’
Exs. 5, 6.



The database was comprised of variousewglgach of which contained columns and
rows. Each table had a name, and each column had a name. Table and column names generally
followed the same nomenclatutewer case words separated by usderes. For example, one
table was named “grass_cut_schedule” amatteer was named “invoice_payment.” Names
generally indicated thg/pe of data contained within thébta or column. The database also
contained views, which displayd restrict access to data,vesll as stored procedures and
functions, which manipulate tiato generate reports.g, a summary of amounts invoiced to a
particular client dung a particular period).

The database was critical to the functiggaf Field-Comm.né Field-Comm.net’s
ability to generate prices and invoices for seggiautomatically, as well as automatically assign
work orders to contractors, was driven by sheicture and content tfie database tables.

The application drove the grhical user interface, witiwhich users interacted when
adding data tog.g, uploading photographs of completedrk), and retrieving data frone Q,
accessing work orders), the database. The application contained query language that drove the
interactions between the useterface and the database.

Following the execution of the Softwareluce Code Access and Indemnity Agreement
and the Confidentiality and Non-Competitidgreement in December 2008, Steven Maxim
directed Edwin Pajemola to retrieve MEI'st@drom the Field-Comm.net database. Edwin
Pajemola accessed the database, but never actiessgaplication code. Steven Maxim, who is
not a programmer, neverngenally accessed either.

One of the first improvements that Stewdaxim, MEI, and Edwin Pajemola developed
was Task Tracker, a stand-aloqpkcation that was not integratedth Field-Comm.net. Task

Tracker was a timekeeping tool that tracked thewmhof time and money spent on jobs. It also



contained the reverse paymesature that Steven Maxim had proposed as a member of the
Board, a “scorecard” feature that allowdél to give performance evaluations to
subcontractors, a late job tracker, a write-cdtker, and several other tracking features. Task
Tracker provided MEI with metrics that it could use to improve efficiency.

In 2009, Steven Maxim and Edwin Pajemolandastrated Task Tracker to the other
principals of East Point, andgposed adding it to Field-Comm.néEast Point declined, and did
not add it to Field-Comm.neMEI continued to use Task Trackerits business, and the East
Point principals did not object.

In or about March 2010, at an annuaeting with MEI's subcontractors, Edwin
Pajemola presented a web-based field servidésae he had develode Steven Maxim was
surprised because he had not instructed E&ajemola to develop a web-based software.
Edwin Pajemola called the new seéire Field Navigator, and MEI ban using it in its business.

Field Navigator had many of the saowre features as Field-Comm.netq, distributing
work orders, generating invoices and repgitecessing payments, uploading photographs of
completed work), but also integrated Task Trackel the metric-generating features that Steven
Maxim and Edwin Pajemola had developed. &teMaxim thought that Field Navigator gave
MEI a competitive advantage because Mallonger had to work with two systems
(Field-Comm.net and Task Tracker), it coblelupdated easily, aritd web-based format
allowed users to view content simultaneous$yeven Maxim and Edwin Pajemola did not tell
East Point about Field Navigator.

In March 2010, Edwin Pajemola pursued a cagptrtitled, “Softwae application that
provides a tool for streamlined work orgepcessing, including comunications with

contractors and clientsif@roperty preservation companies.” Pls.” Ex. 20.



Later in 2010, Steven Maxim formed Maxiield Service Supply, Inc. (‘MFSS”), a
company intended to handle the development of Field Navigator. In August 2010, MFSS and
Edwin Pajemola entered into an Employmentefgment, which provided that Edwin Pajemola
was responsible for designing, programmiagg maintaining Field Navigator.

MEI required its subcontractors to use Fillavigator. Accordingly, when MEI sought
to engage a subcontractor, it required the gntractor to execute two agreements: (1) an
agreement to create the cowstma-subcontractor relationshignd (2) a software license
agreement under which MFSS licensed Fielditator to the subcontractor.

To recoup its costs in developing FieldMdmtor, MFSS planned to charge MEI's
subcontractors one percent ogéithannual revenues for theirausf Field Navigator. MFSS
ultimately never charged MEI's subcontractors for their use of Field Navigator, however,
because the mortgage field service industgtided with the improvement of the housing
market, and Steven Maxim believed it wouldameunfair tax on subcorictors, who were not
using Field Navigator as much because of tladimein business. No Maxim Defendant ever
received any money from any entity for use or license of Field Navigator.

In early 2011, East Point engaged a foatled Marketing On Demand to research
competitors. Marketing On Demand is owned and operated by Jennifer Muller and her husband,
John Muller. As part of themompetitive research, the Multeengage in “secret shopping,”
which involves posing as potential customergdther information on competitors’ products,
marketing, and pricing.

The Mullers discovered a web site for Claral Field Systems, LLC (“CFS”), an Ohio
company that Edwin Pajemola formed app#yeior the purpose of developing and licensing

software. The Mullers informed the East Point principals, who authorized the Mullers to



investigate. The Mullers called CFS and readBedin Pajemola. The Mullers disguised their

true identities and requested a demonstratigdhesoftware from Edwin Pajemola. The Mullers
later spoke with Kelly Bernstein, an MEI playee, who set up a videoconference for the
demonstration. The demonstration occuwadipril 1, 2011. The Milers recorded the
demonstration, and Thomas Margarido secretly observed. Kelly Bernstein and Edwin Pajemola
demonstrated Field Navigator, and SewWaxim later joined the call.

After the demonstration, Kelly Bernsteian MEI employee, sent the Mullers a
Subcontractor Software License Agreementjer which MFSS would license Field Navigator
to the Mullers. It is unclear whether KeBernstein also sent the Mullers a subcontractor
agreement to create a contaesubcontractorelationship.

After the demonstration, Bmas Margarido called Steven Maxim and complained that
Edwin Pajemola was marketing software thro@fs. Steven Maxim directed Edwin Pajemola
to take down the CFS web site. Steven Mattien severed his relationship with Edwin
Pajemola, and Edwin Pajemola stopped rémgri$teven Maxim’s phone calls and e-mails.

Soon afterward, East Point removed StevemiMdrom the Board. East Point offered to
purchase S2K'’s shares, and retained an aggoraiho valued the shares at $33,000. S2K hired
its own appraiser, who valued the shares at 87, East Point offered to purchase the shares
for $57,700, but S2K declined. S2K remains a shareholder.

In 2011, Steven Maxim explored the podsipbf a merger between MEI and A&M
Recovery Services, Inc. (“A&M); a regional service companyatiorganized subcontractors to
perform property preservation services in s@meatheastern states. A&M used Field-Comm.net
for those purposes, and was one of East Pointjg$a accounts. Steven Maxim knew that A&M

was a customer of East Point’s.
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As part of its due diligence, MEI instadlé-ield Navigator at A&M’s offices. Steven
Maxim thought that, if A&M and MEI both useddtd Navigator, he could determine whether
synergies existed between the tagsinesses such that, if mergtaby could service efficiently
a large territory across northesind southern states. NeittEI nor MFSS charged A&M for
the use of Field Navigator.

In late 2011, CFS licensed software cal@eld Navigator to A&M. In November 2011,
CFS licensed software called Field NavigatoB&yghorst Enterprises, L.L.C. (“Berghorst”),
another regional service compangttivas a customer of East Point’'s. Steven Maxim was not
aware of either transaction. No Maxim Defend&teived any money from either transaction.
In 2012, MFSS sued Edwin Pajemola and CFS in Ohio state court allegerclia, that Edwin
Pajemola breached a non-competition provigmohis employment agreement with MFSS.

Sometime in 2011, East Point started &eloevenue from its A&M account. A&M
continued to pay East Point its monthly licendieg, but “per click” revenue from A&M and its
subcontractors declined. East R@mevenue from Berghorst alstarted to decline sometime in
2011. East Point lost “per click” revenfrem Berghorst and its subcontractors.

The mortgage field service industry contéd to decline into 201aks the housing market
improved. MEI, MFSS, and A&M have closed theoors. East Point went from thirty-six
employees at its peak, fourteen employees in 2014.

The parties engaged two computer scienqeerts to compare Field-Comm.net and Field
Navigator. The experts agretitat a significant nmber of table and column names from
Field-Comm.net’s database haekln copied into Field Navigate database. Approximately
102 of the 137 tables making up Field-Comm.nééiabase appeared in Field Navigator's

database with the same names. Those 102 copied tables constituted approximately 42% of the
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243 total tables in Field Navigator’'s databa$ae other tables in Fi@INavigator's database
generally followed a different naming convention.

As to columns, approximately 475 of the approximately 887 columns in
Field-Comm.net’'s database apphim Field Navigator's databe with the same name, and
substantially the same data tgpend data sizes. Thus, appnoately 54% of the columns in
Field-Comm.net appeared largelgaltered in the FidlNavigator database. Of the 102 copied
tables, only 19 had changes to the names, data,tges or ordering of their columns. Thus,
approximately 81% of the 102 tables copied friéield-Comm.net’'s databa appeared unaltered
in Field Navigator’s database.

The experts also compared the two databasew's, stored procedures, and functions.
The experts agreed that, of the approximate®)0 views, stored procexks, and functions in
Field Navigator’'s database, none were copied exactly from Field-Comm.net’s database, and no
significant number were substantially simil8he Plaintiffs’ expert dicovered, however, that
four functions appearing only in Field Navigatodatabase contained “fieldcom” in their names.

The defense expert compared the two systamglication code and user interfaces. The
Plaintiffs’ expert did not. The defense expert found no significant evidence of copying in Field
Navigator’s application code. Heund that Field Navigator’s user interface was largely tabular,
while Field-Comm.net’s user inface displayed tabanly in its “Orders” section. Some tab
names were common between the two. Hefalsod that Field Navigator’s search function
used terminology that Field-Comm.net usedndicate order status. He found no other

significant similarities betweenehtwo systems’ user interfaces.
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. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

A. Count One: Breach of Shareholder Agreement by Steven Maxim and S2K

In Count One, Plaintiffs claim that,b]y copying [East Point]'s Field-Comm.net
architecture and design for commercialggbteven] Maxim [and$2K violated the
Shareholder Agreement¥Yerified Compl. § 122.

First, Steven Maxim was not a party to the Shareholder Agreeseeft,’s Ex. 13, and
therefore, is not lide for its breach.FCM Grp., Inc. v. Miller 300 Conn. 774, 797 (2011)
(“[O]nly parties to contracts are liable foreih breach.”). Second,dlhonly evidence regarding
S2K was that it sold hardware and held EasttPshares. There was no evidence of any conduct
by S2K that would amount to a breach of the Shareholder Agreement.

Plaintiffs argue, without citeon to authority, that “[StevdriMaxim, as an agent of S2K
was able to bind it in contracnd should be liable for all diis actions in effectuating such
contracts. Conversely, [Steven] Maxim should lb®&ble to have another corporate entity
perform actions which he himself is barred frdoing via contract. Therefe, he is personally
liable for his actions.”Pls.” Reply at 2-3.

As best as the Court can tell, the firstteeice suggests that, because Steven Maxim
could bind S2K, he is personally liable for breacla @bntract to which S2K is party. The Court
disagrees. Steven Maxim is not a party ®$mareholder Agreement, and Plaintiffs did not
pierce the corporate veil. Thec®nd and third sentences seerauggest that, if another entity
owned by Steven Maxim and not party to thai®@holder Agreement engaged in conduct that
would amount to a breach of the Shareholdere@ment, Steven Maxim and/or that entity is

somehow liable for a breach of the Shareholder Agreement. Again, persons not party to the
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agreement are not liable for itselich, and Plaintiffs did not pe the corporate veil. Count
One falils.

B. Count Two: Breach of Confidentality and Non-Competition Agreement by
StevenMaxim

In Count Two, Plaintiffs claim that Stevéfiaxim breached a Codientiality and Non-
Competition Agreement dated July 26, 2004 “[b]y copying [East Point]’s Field-Comm.net
architecture and design for commercial gainMgrified Compl. § 126-27. Count Two fails
because Plaintiffs did not prdvihat any such breach causeeitilamages, and did not prove
damages with reasonable certainty.

The elements of a breach of contractralare (1) formation of an agreement, (2)
performance by one party, (3) breach of theeament by the other party, and (4) damages.
Meyers v. Livingston, AdlePulda, Meiklejohn & Kelly, P.C311 Conn. 282, 291 (2014).
Furthermore, Plaintiffs must establigtat the breach caused their damagesllins v. Anthem
Health Plans, InG.275 Conn. 309, 333 (2005) (a plaintiff stgrove that its damages “were
caused by the breach and were nofpiteeluct of some other source”) (citillg. Haven Sound
Dev. Corp. v. W. Haver201 Conn. 305, 316 (1986¥ee also Lipshie v. George M. Taylor &
Son, Inc. 265 Conn. 173, 182 (2003) (noting that detaing causation in connection with a
breach of contract claim is a question of fact] concluding that evidence was insufficient to
find causation).

Plaintiffs’ theory is that East Point lagtvenue as a result of Steven Maxim’s alleged
breach of the agreemertbeeVerified Compl. § 127-28. Evesssuming that Steven Maxim

breached, Plaintiffs did not show that thedmt®, if any, caused East Point’s loss of revenue.

2 Unless otherwise stated, the terms “prove,” “shamd “establish” mean pro\sy a preponderance of the
evidence.
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“[UInder Connecticut law, the causation standapg@licable to breacbf contract actions
asks not whether a defendant’s conduct wa®amiate cause of theaihtiff's injuries, but
rather whether those injuries were foreseettbtbe defendant and naturally and directly
resulted from the defendant’s conducieadowbrook Ctr., Inc. v. Buchma9 Conn. App.
177, 188-89 (2014). “[U]nless they are too spatué and remote, prpsctive profits are
allowable as an element of damage whene@r kbss arises directiiyom and as a natural
consequence of the breachd. (quotingKay Petroleum Corp. v. Piergrosgi37 Conn. 620,

624 (1951)). The plairift must provide %ufficientevidence to prove such damages . . . with
reasonable certainty and not sdatively and problematically.1d. (emphasis in original)
(quotingSullivan v. Thorndikel04 Conn. App. 297, 304 (2007) doeisure Resort Tech., Inc. v.
Trading Cove Assoc277 Conn. 21, 35 (2006)).

At the outset, Plaintiffs’ causation showilsgveakened by the delay between MEI's use
of Field Navigator and East Point’s loss of newe. Edwin Pajemola presented Field Navigator
to Steven Maxim on or about March 2010, and Mé&gan using Field Navigator in its business
sometime in 2010. Tr. 830-31, 835. Paul Taff tetithat he observed daing revenue from
A&M and Berghorst beginning sometime in 201d. at 512. Thus, MEI began using Field
Navigator sometime in 2010, possibly as early as spring 2010, but EaslliBaint start to lose
revenue until sometime the following year.

Plaintiffs’ causation showing is weakened lfigrt because Plaintiffs proved only that East
Point started to lose revenue from A&M aBdrghorst “sometime” in 2011. Tr. at 512. But
CFS licensed software called Field NavigatnA&M and Berghorsin late 2011, and, as
discussednfra, no Maxim Defendant is responsible for tadsansactions. As a result, the Court

does not find that the revenue declingibaing sometime in 2011 was caused by a Maxim
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Defendant’s breach rather than “some other sou@al)ins, 275 Conn. at 333, namely, CFS’s
licensing transactions with Al and Berghorst in late 2011.

First, CFS licensed software called Fildvigator to Berghorst in November 20%&ge
Pls.” Ex. 15, and licensed software cdllgéeld Navigator to A&M in late 201EkeePIs.” Ex. 18
(A&M record showing check written out to #th Pajemola in July 2011, and bills received
from, and payments made to, CFS beginning January 4, 2012); Pls.” Ex. 26, Pajemola Dep. at
1:32:50 (Edwin Pajemola testifying that he recdivevenue from Field Navigator in late 2011).
Plaintiffs urge the Court tbold Maxim Defendants respobke for those transactions.

“[Nt is a general rule of agncy law that the principal in an agency relationship is bound
by, and liable for, the acts in which his agergages with authority from the principal, and
within the scope of the agent’s employmemtkerman v. Sobol Family P’ship, LL.P98
Conn. 495, 508 (2010) (quotimMgaharishi Sch. Vedic Scis., Inc. v. Conn. Constitution Assocs.
Ltd. P’ship 260 Conn. 598, 606 (2002)). Neither CFS Bdwin Pajemola acted as agents of
any Maxim Defendant when CFS licensed sofenma A&M and Berghorst. Prior to CFS’s
licensing activities, Steven Maxim instructed Edwiajemola to shut down the CFS website, he
and Edwin Pajemola severed ties, and EdwjerRala stopped returning Steven Maxim’s phone
calls and e-mailsSeeTr. at 240-41, 845-46. Plaintiffs ditbt prove that@my Maxim Defendant
was aware of, much less authorized, CFS’s fzentransactions with A&M and Berghorst, and
the evidence showed that no Maxim Defendanéeived any money frothose transactions.
Because neither Edwin Pajemola nor CFS was acting pursuant to authority, actual or apparent,
from any Maxim Defendant when CFS entered into licensing transactions with A&M and

Berghorst, the Court does ratld any Maxim Defendant respale for those transactions.
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Plaintiffs argue that the deonstration given to the Muts provides a basis for holding
Maxim Defendants responsible for CFS’s licensiagsactions with A&M and Berghorst. It is
true that the Mullers set upe demonstration by contactigglwin Pajemola through the CFS
website, Edwin Pajemola participated in the demonstration, and the demonstration evidenced
that MEI was going to license FieNavigator to the Mullers forfg@e. But the Court finds that
Steven Maxim and Edwin Pajemola severed théatioaship after that deonstration, and that
no Maxim Defendant participataéd CFS’s licensing transactiorand Plaintiffs did not prove
that Edwin Pajemola or CFS acted pursuarguthority from any Maxim Defendant in
connection with those transactions.

Plaintiffs also argue th&flIFSS’s Ohio state courtwssuit against CFS and Edwin
Pajemola provides a basis for holding Maxbefendants responsible for CFS’s licensing
activities. The Court disagrees. The existesfce lawsuit in which MFSS alleges that it has
some ownership in Field Navigator, andttiCFS and/or Edwin Pajemola breached an
employment agreement by licensing softward&M and Berghorst, does not establish an
agency relationship between any Maxim Defendant and CFS in connection with CFS'’s licensing
transactions with A&M and Berghorst. Nor i®th anything in the recoid this case which
would permit this Court to draw such srfierence from the Ohio lawsuit.

Second, Mr. Taff testified that he did rkmtow when in 2011 the A&M revenue started to
decline, Tr. 507, 512, and he did not know wireB011 the Berghorst revenue started to

decline,id. at 5713 Given that Mr. Taff testified onlthat the A&M and Berghorst revenue

3 Before trial, Plaintiffs disclosed artified public accountant (the “CPA”) @ expert to testify as to Plaintiffs’
economic damages. However, Plaintiffs did not provide Defendants with an expert report as require®by Fed.
Civ. P. 26(a)(2)(B), or a summary of facts and opinions as required by Fed. R. Cia)R2)p6). Accordingly, the
Court precluded the CPA from testifying as an expert. Gatdgy ECF No. 185. Plaifiis contended that, although
they had initially disclosed him as an expert, the CPA actuallyld testify as a factimess. The Court “allow[ed]
Plaintiffs an opportunity to lay a foundation for [the CPA’s] personal knowledge” to testify as a fact witness as to
their damagesd., but Plaintiffs did not call the CPA to testify at trial.
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started to decline “sometime” in 201d, at 512, Plaintiffs did ngtrove that their loss of
customer revenue was caused by Stevexifila breach and not “some other sourdegllins,
275 Conn. at 333, namely, CFS’s licensing transastwith A&M and Beghorst in late 2011.
In other words, Plaintiffs failed to show thihe time in 2011 when their revenue from A&M and
Berghorst started to decline svaot the same time in 2011 when CFS licensed software to A&M
and Berghorst. Significantly, Mr. Taff testified tl#tie bulk” of A&M mobile users “start[ed]
to turn off” in April 2012, Tr. at 570:8-11yhich was several mams after CFS licensed
software to A&M, and approximately two yeafter Edwin Pajemola presented Field Navigator
to Steven Maxim. Because no Maxim Defendaméesponsible for CFS’s licensing transactions
with A&M and Berghorst, Plaints failed to show that Stevevlaxim’s breach, if any, caused
their damages.

Finally, Plaintiffs failed to prove damagegth reasonable certainty. “When damages are
claimed they are an essential element of thenpis proof and must beroved with reasonable
certainty.” Lawson v. Whitey's Frame Shdpt1l Conn. 678, 689 (1997).

Plaintiffs claim lost revenue. In a breamfhcontract action, the award of damages is

Instead, Plaintiffs called Mr. Taff to testify about dayes. While Mr. Taff was on the stand, he relied on a
summary spreadshegedrportedly containing figures representing licensing and “per click” revenue that East Point
received, as well as projections of lost revenue. Tdiff also had with him “ranth-to-month records for each
individual account, which would includedsbe individual contractors for whérey started, how much they paid

each month, when they termiedt and, if available, the reasons for theimination.” Tr. 573:14-19. The Court

did not allow these documents into evidence as exhibits because Plaintiffs had not timely provided them to
Defendants under Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(a)(8).at 584-85. But the Court nevertheless allowed Plaintiffs’ counsel to
continue questioning Mr. Taff as to when in 2011 theMA\&nd Berghorst revenue statte decline. Tr. 579-80
(“[W]hy don’t you finish up with his testimony on this. I’'m going to keep thidamadvisement . . . .”). Plaintiffs’
counsel then asked Mr. Taff;rom looking at those documents, are you able to — do these documents contain the
start and end dates for the revenue losses that you referred to on the direct testichaaty®80:19-22.

Defendants reiterated their objection, the Court acknowtktlge objection, and then told Plaintiffs’ counsel, “Go
ahead. | said I'm going to let you inquire. | want this to move ¢oh.’at 581:4-5. Plaintiffs’ counsel did not repeat
the question, or continue to inquire as to when inlab& A&M and Berghorst revenue started to decline, but
instead changed topic and asked Waff why contractors “left.”ld. at 580-81. Despite the Court permitting
Plaintiffs’ counsel to continue to inquire as to when in 2011 the A&M and Berghorst revenue started to decline, the
examination never returned to this poiftee idat 580-86.
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designed to place the injured party in the positiovould have been in had the contract been
performed.Flater v. Grace 291 Conn. 410, 426 n.11 (2009). Lost profits may be awarded for

this purpose.SeeAmbrogio v. Beaver Rd. Assqc67 Conn. 148, 155 (2003) (“[O]ur case law
unequivocally supports awarding lost profits as an element of compensatory damages for general
breach of contract claims.”). “With respect to the calculation of lost profits, ““net profit” is the
gross amount that would havedn received, less the costofining the business. . . .Gianetti

v. Norwalk Hosp.304 Conn. 754, 806 (2012) (quoting 22 Am. Jur. 2d 409 § 458).

Plaintiffs offered only revenukgures at trial. They offered no evidence as to what
expenses, if any, they would have incurred inegating that revenue order for the Court to
arrive at a reasonably certaialculation of lost profits Cf. Beverly Hills Concepts, Inc. v.
Schatz & Schatz, Ribicoff & Kotkig47 Conn. 48, 69 (1998) (“[W]e have permitted [osifits
to be calculated by extrapolating from pasifits.”) (emphasis added$ee also Englewood
Terrace Ltd. P’ship v. United State®/9 F. App’x 969, 973 (Fed. Cir. 2012) (award of gross
revenue is not appropriate foreach of contract claimRichard Parks Corrosion Tech., Inc. v.
Plas-Pak Indus., IncNo. 3:10-cv-00437 (WWE), 2012 WA471258, at *5 (D. Conn. Sept. 27,
2012) (granting summary judgment as to breafatontract claim wher claimant offered no
evidence of expenses incurred to generatewex)e Awarding Plaintiffs gross revenue would
place them in a better position thaeytwould have been absent a breach.

In any event, Plaintiffs’ lost revenue peofions were discredide Mr. Taff based his
testimony regarding East Point’s lost revenu@a@ummary spreadsheptirportedly containing
figures representing licensing anceflick” revenue that East P received and projections of
lost revenue. He testified that the projectiamse calculated by averag prior years’ revenue

figures. SeeTr. at 520-22. But those projections “@gbed under gentlequding.” Defs.’ Br.
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at 21. On cross-examination, the Maxim Defemtd showed that the projections were not
accurate averages of prior years’ revenue @iguand were sometimes higher than the true
averages of prior years’ reveniigures. Mr. Taff offered nox@lanation as to why the figures
were wrong, nor did he offer an alternativ@lkanation as to how they were reach&keTr. at
529-32, 569.

Plaintiffs argue that, “[d]espite someaamntainty as to methods, Taff was reasonably
certain of the amount of damages, and as sadtes it more probable than not that they are
correct.” PIs.” Br. at 27. The law providefetwise. “Damages arecoverable only to the
extent that the evidence affords a sufiitibasis for estimatmtheir amount witlmeasonable
certainty. . . . In order to recover $o profits, therefore, the plaiff must present sufficiently
accurate and complete evidence for the trieaof fo be able to estimate those profits with
reasonable certainty.Beverly Hills Concepts, Inc247 Conn. at 69-70 (emphasis in original).
Plaintiffs offered only revenukgures, those figures were diedited, and Plaintiffs did not
otherwise “present sufficiently accurate anchptete evidence” from which the Court could
calculate damages with reasonable certaiSige idat 70.

In sum, Plaintiffs did ngprove that their lost revenweas caused by a breach by Steven

* Maxim Defendants move to strike Mr. Taff's testimony appearing in the trial transcript at pagestd@iigh
532:20, and 567:21 through 586:11. Defs.’ Br. at 20. They argue that the Court dfikeilthisttestimony under
the best evidence rule, the rule against hearsay, andRFEdid. 403, because Mr. Taff simply recited revenue
figures and projections from a financial record that wagimaly produced and not admitted into evidence. Defs.’
Br. at 20-21. The Court will not strike all of the testimony that Maxim Defendants identify deeit@cludes Mr.
Taff's testimony regarding the makeup of East Point's accounting department, what East Point d@es when
contractor’s account becomes inactikey East Point charges contractavien East Point’s revenue from A&M
and Berghorst started to decline, and other mattes. United States v. Slik&b1 F.2d 477, 483 (2d Cir. 1984)
(oral testimony about an insurance policy was properly adirtittprove the existence of insurance, in contrast to
proving the terms of the policy). The Court will, howestrike under Fed. R. Evid. 1002 those portions of Mr.
Taff's testimony where he offered revenue figures and projections from the spreadshebt @t 493:14-17

(“Now that you have the summary in front of you, is there a more precise number you cosedtiae@ourt of?

A. $152,040.95.").SeefFed. R. Evid. 1002 (original writing is requiréa prove its content). Mr. Taff did not have
a present recollectiosge, e.qg.Tr. at 512 (“Q. So other than what's in the summary sheets, you don’'t know? A.
That is correct.”)jd. at 531 (“And you can't tell from this documentiag, you have to look at the documents that
are on the bench in the courtroom? A. | would have to review all of them.”), and by referringpre¢hdsheet and
reciting the figures, he was reading into evide the contents of an excluded document.
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Maxim, and did not prove damages widasonable certainty. Count Two fails.

C. Count Three: Breach of Confidentialty and Non-Competition Agreement by
K

In Count Three, Plaintiffs claim thdfp]y copying [East Point]'s Field Comm.net
architecture and design for commercialg&2K violated” a Confidentiality and Non-
Competition Agreement dated July 26, 2004. Verified Compl. 9 131-32.

As notedsupraat Part Il.A, the only evidence redang S2K was that it sold hardware
and held East Point shares. There was naeaee of any conduct by S2K that would amount to
a breach of the agreement. Count Three fails.

D. Count Four: Breach of Confidentidity and Non-Competition Agreement by
Steven Maxim and MEI

In Count Four, Plaintiffs claim thdfb]y copying [East Point]'s Field Comm.net
architecture and design for commerciahg@Steven] Maxim and MEI violated” a
Confidentiality and Non-Competition AgreementethDecember 2008, and that East Point lost
customer revenue as a resutt. 1 136-39.

Count Four fails for the reasons discussepraat Part [I.B. Even if Steven Maxim and
MEI breached the agreement, Plaintiffs did pimtve that the breach caused their damages, and
did not prove damages with reasonable certainty.

E. Count Five: Breach of Source Code Access and Indemnity Agreement by
Edwin Pajemola and MEI

In Count Five, Plaintiffs claim that, EdwPajemola and MEI violated the Software
Source Code Access and Indemnity Agreement,thatPlaintiffs lost customer revenue as a
result. 1d. 1 140-46.

1. MEI

Count Five fails against MEor the reasons discussedpraat Part I1.B. Even if MEI
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breached the agreement, Plaintiffs did not pritna the breach caused their damages, and did
not prove damages with reasonable certdinty.
2. Edwin Pajemola

The Pajemola Defendants were defaulted under Rule 55(a). ECF No. 146. Before the
bench trial, Plaintiffs moved for defaultdgment against them. ECF No. 152. The Court
combined a Rule 55(b)(2) default judgmeaahng with the benctrial. ECF No. 176.

In light of the Pajemola Defendants’ defaults, the Court must “accept[] as true all of the
factual allegations of the complaint, except those relating to damag&s[Bbn Pain Corp. v.
Artect, Inc, 653 F.2d 61, 65 (2d Cir. 1981), and draw@tisonable inferences in Plaintiffs’
favor, Finkel v. Romanowi¢cs77 F.3d 79, 84 (2d Cir. 2009). Where damages are uncertain,
they may be proved at a post-default heariNgrcia v. Dieber’s Castle Tavern, L{@80 F.

Supp. 2d 492, 500 (S.D.N.Y. 2013). As noted abtheCourt combined a post-default Rule
55(b)(2) hearing with the benthal. ECF No. 176. One dlie purposes of a Rule 55(b)(2)
hearing is to “determine the amount of damagjesfed. R. Civ. P. 55(b)(2)(C). The burden is
on the plaintiff seeking default judgment to &ditth damages with reasonable certairitharcia,
980 F. Supp. 2d at 500.

Count Five fails against Edwin Pajemola bessaRlaintiffs failed to prove damages with
reasonable certainty. Plaintiffs’ claimed damagéb respect to Count Fivare lost revenues.
Verified Compl. 11 145-46. Plaintiffs argue thiaty are entitled to remeie that CFS received
when it licensed software to A&M and Berghbr Mem. Supp. Mot. Def. Judg. at 6, ECF No.

152-1. Edwin Pajemola testified that CFS received approximately $100,000 in revenue from

® Plaintiffs also argue that MEI failed to “safeguard” their code in violation of paragraph t2® Software Source
Code Access and Indemnity Agreeme8eePIs.’ Br. at 15-16. But Plaintiffdid not prove that such a breach, if
any, caused their damages. As discugsiea at Part II.L.1, Plaintiffs did not prove, as to the Maxim Defendants,
that the software that CFS licad to A&M and Berghorst contained any Field-Comm.net elements.
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Berghorst, Pls.” Ex. 26 at 1:19:57, and apgmately $300,000 in revenue from A&N4. at
1:16:09. But Plaintiffs offered no evidence of thgenses, if any, they would have incurred in
generating that revenu&ee, e.gEnglewood Terrace Ltd. P’shig79 F. App’x at 973 (award
of gross revenue is not appropri&te breach of contract claimlas-Pak Indus., Inc2012 WL
4471258, at *5 (granting summary judgment agreach of contract claim where claimant
offered no evidence of expenses incurred to generate revenue).

Edwin Pajemola offered a “guesstimategt based upon any review of financial
records’ that his profit from that revenue was $250,08@€PIs.’ Ex. 26 at 1:3%3. Plaintiffs
offered no evidence as to whether their expeimsgenerating that revenue, if any, would have
been comparable to Edwin Pajemola’s, or themeeof those expenses, and the Court will not
speculate.See Adler v. Rosenthdl63 Conn. App. 663 (2016)T]he court must have evidence
by which it can calculate the damages, which is not merely subjective or speculative . . . but
which allows for some objective ascertainment of the amount . . . .”) (Qquatmdiamond
Exch., Inc. v. Alpert302 Conn. 494, 510-11 (2011)). The Qdinds that Plaintiffs did not
“present sufficiently accurate and complete evidenBeyerly Hills Concepts, Inc247 Conn. at
70, from which the Court could calculate witasonable certainty Plaintiffs’ damages.

Plaintiffs also claim that they are entitleo attorneys’ feeand costs from Edwin
Pajemola under paragraph 4.0 of the Software Source Code Access and Indemnity Agreement.
Mem. Supp. Mot. Def. Judg. at 6, ECF No. 152F¥he Court disagrees. Paragraph 4.0 imposes

indemnification obligations onlgn MEI, not on Edwin Pajemole&SeePls.” Ex. 6 1 4.0.

® Edwin Pajemola testified that he would need to review financial records stored on his compuiee @t a more
accurate figure. Pls.” Ex. 26 at 1:3@:3Edwin Pajemola failed to produce that computer in discovery despite a
Court order to do so. But “[e]Jven where the defendant by his own wrong has pdex@entee precise computation,
the [factfinder] may not render a verdict based on speculation or guesswieidowbrook Ctr., In¢149 Conn.
App. at 189 (quotin@igelow v. RKO Radio Picture827 U.S. 251, 264 (1946)). While records on Edwin
Pajemola’s computer may have helped to calculatprbiit with reasonable certainty, the question is what
Plaintiffs’ profit would have been — information in Plaintiffs’ possession — and Plaintiffs faijgdvale a

sufficient evidentiary basis upon which the Court daukke that determination with reasonable certainty.
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Moreover, the Verified Complairdoes not assert an indemcaftion claim under paragraph 4.0
against any Defendant, and a party may notahits complaint through arguments in briefs.
E.g, Ribis v. Mike Barnard Chevrolet-Cadillac, Ind68 F. Supp. 2d 489, 495 (W.D.N.Y. 2007)
(“[A] plaintiff may not use a menrandum of law or similar paper &ssert a claim that is not
contained in the complaint.”Johnson v. LeyyNo. 10-CV-3217 (ADS) (ETB), 2012 WL
3580236, at *6 (E.D.N.Y. Aug. 17, 2012) (“It is wekkttled that the Plaintiffs cannot amend
their complaint through arguments in a brief . . . ."”).

F. Count Six: Breach of Source Codé\ccess and Indemnity Agreement by
Steven Maxim and MEI

In Count Six, Plaintiffs claim that Stevéfiaxim and MEI violated the Software Source
Code Access and Indemnity Agreement, and that Plaintiffs lost custevegiue as a result.
Verified Compl. 1 149, 152-53.

Steven Maxim is not a party to the Sou@tale Access and Indemnity Agreement in his
individual capacity.SeePlIs.” Ex. 5, 6. Even if he werand he and/or MEI breached the
agreement, Plaintiffs did not prove that tireach caused their damages, and did not prove
damages with reasonable te@nty. Count Six fails.

G. Count Seven: Breach of Statutory Rduciary Duty by Steven Maxim and S2K

In Count Seven, Plaintiffs claim thatp]jy creating or suborning the creation of a
derivative version of [East Point]’'s softwdrand “[b]y marketinga competing software
package to third parties,” Steven MaximdaS2K breached statutory fiduciary duties under
Conn. Gen. Stat. § 33-75&erified Compl. 1 156-58.

Plaintiffs’ claimed damages are unclear.eiferified Complaint alleges that they
suffered “monetary damage and loss[ldl.  159. Their brief notes that Maxim Defendants

derived no profit from Field Navigator, but “woutéve” if they charged fee. Pls.’ Br. at 10-
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11. Plaintiffs have soughtdorevenue. As discussedpraat Part I1.B and Rall.E.2, Plaintiffs
failed to prove their damages with reaable certainty. Count Seven fails.

H. Count Eight: Breach of Common Law Fiduciary Duty by Steven Maxim and
K

In Count Eight, Plaintiffs claim that, B]y creating or suborng the creation of a
derivative version of [East Point]'s softwdrand “[b]y marketinga competing software
package to third parties,” Steven Maxim and®2eached their common law fiduciary duties.
Id. 1 161-65. Count Eight faifer the reasons discusssapraat Part I1.G.

l. Count Nine: Breach of Cross Purchase Agreement by S2K

In Count Nine, Plaintiffs claim that S2bkteached the Cross Purchase Agreement by not
selling its shares of East Point when East Raffietred to purchase them. Plaintiffs seek specific
performance.ld. 11 167-74.

The paragraph of the Cross Purchase Ageetmpon which Plaintiffs rely provides that
“[i]f one or more Connecticut Shareholderslshaany time notify S2K in writing that they
desire to purchase the shares of the corporatiored by S2K, then S2K . . . shall offer to sell
all of its shares to such Connecticut $eriders . . . .” PIs.” Ex. 4 1 4.B.(i).

The elements of a breach of contractralare (1) formation of an agreement, (2)
performance by one party, (3) breach of theeament by the other party, and (4) damages.
Meyers 311 Conn. at 291. The parties entered tinéoCross Purchase Agreement, Plaintiffs

substantially performetiS2K breached by not selling its sesmwhen Plaintiffs offered to

" Plaintiffs also claim that S2K’s conduct was “in bad faitid has led to costly litigation” and “[a]s a result, the
defendants should be liable for all of the plaintiffs’ costmamted with litigation.” Pls.’ Br. at 10. They cite no
authority for this proposition, and the Cross Purchase Agreemwhich contains an arbitration clause, provides that
“each party shall bear the cost of their cattorney’s fees.” Pls.’ Ex. 4 at 059.

8 Plaintiffs did not prove that they notified S2K “in writing[Rls.’ Ex. 4 { 4.B.(i), but S2K did not raise this issue,

and the Court found that Plaintiffs did notify S2K, in sonay, that they desired to purchase its shares, and thereby
substantially performedSee Pack 2000, Inc. v. Cushmamhl Conn. 662, 700 (2014) (doctrine of substantial
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purchase them at the valuation that S2ZK’s\@ppraiser provided, and Plaintiffs suffered
damages as a resulg(, they were deprived of the shares and their value).

“Specific performance is a form of equitabéief which rests ithe sound discretion of
the court.” Nann v. Pignatelli3 Conn. App. 74, 79 (1984). “Gendyatontracts for the transfer
of stock are not specifically enforceable because damages will suffice. When the stock,
however, is that of a closeheld corporation, which is diffult to value in money, specific
performance may be the only just remediyges v. HerrmanrNo. CvV010810973, 2001 WL
1617937, at *3 (Conn. Super. Ct. Nov. 28, 2001).

Here, the stock is that of a closely heldpmyation, and the Courbacludes that specific
performance is appropriate under the circumstanices brief, S2K offered to sell its shares
for $57,700, Defs.’ Br. at 30, which appears tdheeappropriate pricender Schedule B-1 of
the Cross Purchase Agreement. SchedulgBxlides that if S2K objects to Plaintiffs’
appraisal, which happened here, then S2K meisits own appraisal, which happened here.
Pls.” Ex. 4 at 058. Plaintiffs agreed to purah#tse shares at S2K'ppraised value, but S2K
refused. Thus, it appears that harties reached agreement as to value, but did not consummate
the sale. Plaintiffs’ briefing does not engage with Schedule B-1, or explain why another price
should apply. The Court orders S2K to sell its shares for $57,700.

J. Count Ten: Tortious Interference with Business Expectancy by Defendants

In Count Ten, Plaintiffs claim that Defendamortiously inerfered withtheir business
relationships with Berghorst and A&M. Vesfil Compl. Y 176-84. Again, Plaintiffs’ claimed
damages are lost revenuedd. { 183. Lost profits would havieen an appropriate measure of

damages for tortious interferendmit lost profits must be pred with reasonable certaintAm.

performance protects “those who have performed in all material and substantive particularsheo tigtit to
[performance] may not be forfeited by reason of mere technical, inadvertent, or unimportant omisiedester)
(quotingln re Centennial Park, LLA61 B. R. 853, 863 (Bankr. D. Kan. 2011)).
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Diamond Exch., Inc. v. Alper802 Conn. 494, 510-11 (2011). Count Ten fails for the reasons
discussedupraat Part I1.B and Part II.E.2.

K. Count Eleven: Violation of Connecticut Uniform Trade Secrets Act
(“CUTSA”) by Defendants

In Count Eleven, Plaintiffs claim that Fie@emm.net’'s code was a trade secret, and that
Defendants misappropriated itviolation of CUTSA. VerifiedCompl. {1 185-98; PIs.’ Br. at
24-26.

1. Maxim Defendants

Count Eleven fails for the reasons discussé&d at Part II.L.1. Plaatiffs must establish
that a Maxim Defendant’s @lation of CUTSA proximatelgaused their damageSee Solomon
v. Aberman196 Conn. 359, 385 (1985) (“It is axiomatiatldamages recoverable in tort must
be proximately caused by a defendant’s tortious conduEdilsle Arrangement Int’l, Inc. v.
Incredible Franchise CorpNo. 3:07-cv-01788 (WWE), 20 WL 2232488, at *2 (D. Conn.

May 25, 2010) (as to CUTSA claim, jury found that defendant’s conduct did not proximately
cause plaintiff's injury).Assumingarguendathat a Maxim Defendant violated CUTSA by
misappropriating elements of RlelComm.net’s code, PHiiffs did not prove that the violation,
if any, proximately caused their damag&ee infraat Part II.L.1.

2. PajemolaDefendants

The Court will enter default judgment agaitie Pajemola Defendants on Count Eleven.
Accepting as true all of Plaiffs’ allegations against the feanola Defendants, except those
relating to damages, and drawialjreasonable inferences iraiitiffs’ favor, the Court finds,
with respect to Pajemola Defendants only, thaE{@ld-Comm.net’s database was a trade secret
under Conn. Gen. Stat. § 35-51(d) which derigednomic value from not generally being

known to others and which Plaintiffs dereasonable efforts to keep seaat,Pls.” Exs. 5, 6;
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(b) Edwin Pajemola used the trade sedret, Copied Field-Comm.net database tables) in
developing, without Plaintiffs’@nsent, the Field Navigator sefire that CFS licensed to A&M
and Berghorst; and (c) the misappriation proximately caused Pl&ifs to lose revenue from
A&M and Berghors®.

Plaintiffs failed to proveheir actual damages with ressble certainty, as discussed
supraat Part I1l.E.2. However, CUTSA authorizegrevailing plaintiff to recover for unjust
enrichment caused by the misapprajoia Conn. Gen. Stat. § 35-53(a).

“Unjust enrichment is, consistent with thenciples of equity, a broad and flexible
remedy. Plaintiffs seeking recovery for unjastichment must provd) that the defendants
were benefited, (2) that the datlants unjustly did not pay the pi&ffs for the benefits, and (3)
that the failure of payment was to the plaintiffs’ detrimerdartford Whalers Hockey Club v.
Uniroyal Goodrich Tire Cq.231 Conn. 276, 283 (1994). “[T]he measure of damages in an
unjust enrichment case ordinarilynst the loss to the plaintiff btite benefit to the defendant.”
Id. at 285.

As notedsupraat Part 11.E.2, Edwin Pajemola ofésl a “guesstimate” that he made a
$250,000 profit from the $400,000 in revenue that @¢®ived from its licensing transactions
with A&M and Berghorst. While this evidencenet sufficient to prove Rintiffs’ lost profits
with reasonable certainty, the Court finds tigaten the Pajemola Deferala’ defaults and their
failure to produce a computer contaigimore fulsome financial recordsgeFed. R. Civ. P.

37(b)(2)(A), it is sufficient to move the benefit to the Pajemd&fendants for unjust enrichment

° As a result of the Pajemola Defendants’ defaaris failures to obey this Court’s discovery ordeesFed. R.

Civ. P. 37(b)(2)(A), and the Courtibligation to deem Plaintiffs’ allegations admitted and draw all reasonable
inferences in Plaintiffs’ favoe.g, Verified Compl. 1 193 (“Defendants used Plaintiffs’ confidential and proprietary
trade secrets to compete with [East Point], includingpisg opportunities and soliciting clients and prospects of
[East Point]"), the Court deems established the factRiedd-Comm.net database tables were copied into the
software that CFS licensed to A&M and Berghorst. As discuséedat Part 11.L.1, however, this fact was not
established by a preponderance ofdhiglence against the Maxim Defendants.
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purposes. Accordingly, the Court will award Plaintiffs unjust enrichment damages of $250,000.

The Court will also award $100,000 in punitiver@daes, as well as reasonable attorney’s
fees. Under CUTSA, “if the court finds wilfand malicious misapppriation, the court may
award punitive damages” in an amount not egdoegetwice the award of actual and unjust
enrichment damages, and may award reasomdioley’s fees. Conn. Gen. Stat. § 33-53(b).

In EIm City Cheese Co., Inc. v. Federi@1 Conn. 59, 90-93 (1999), the Connecticut
Supreme Court held that a tre@ourt properly awarded punitidamages and attorney’s fees
under CUTSA where the defendantjo misappropriated a businesg'ade secrets, was “on a
course for [the business]’'s demise rather tfoa@nter into fair competition” and was “choking
off . . . [[the business]'#ife lines by getting the three oa customers of [the business]'s
product.” Here, shortly after severing ties willaxim Defendants, Edwin Pajemola targeted
two of East Point’s “liéline” accounts — A&M and Berghorsthe Court finds that the Pajemola
Defendants’ conduct under these circumstam@swilful and malicious, and demonstrated
reckless indifference to East Point’s rightsler the Softwaredsirce Code Access and
Indemnity Agreement.

L. Count Twelve: Computer-Related Offense by Defendants

In Count Twelve, Plaintiffs claim th&efendants, “through [Steven] Maxim’s and
[Edwin] Pajemola’s access to [East Point]'snputer system,” committed a computer-related
offense in violation of Conn. Gen. Stat. § 53a-25&¢eVerified Compl. 11 207-09.

That statute provides, in retent part, that a person “is djyiof the computer crime of
misuse of computer system information” when:

(1) As a result of his accessing or causing to be accessed a
computer system, he intentionally makes or causes to be made an

unauthorized display, use, disclosorecopy, in any form, of data
residing in, communicated by orquluced by a computer system;
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or (2) he intentionally or reckdsly and without authorization (A)
alters, deletes, tampers with haages, destroys or takes data
intended for use by a computer gmt whether residing within or
external to a computer system,(B) intercepts or adds data to

data residing within a computer system; or (3) he knowingly
receives or retains data obtainediolation of subdivision (1) or

(2) of this subsection; or (4) heassor discloses any data he knows
or believes was obtained in vititan of subdivision (1) or (2) of

this subsection.

Conn. Gen. Stat. § 53a-251(e).

There is a private right @fction: “[A]ny person who gters any injury to person,
business or property may bring an action for dg@saagainst a person who is alleged to have
violated any provision of section 53a—251. Tggréeved person shall recover actual damages
and damages for unjust enrichment not takenantmunt in computing damages for actual loss,
and treble damages where there has bebaowiisg of wilful and malicious conduct.” Conn.
Gen. Stat. 8 52-570b(c).

1. Maxim Defendants

Count Twelve fails against the Maxim Datlants because, although it appears that MEI
may have violated Conn. Gen. St&at3a-251(e)(1), Plaintiffs digot prove that such violation,
if any, proximately caused their harm.

A person violates Conn. Genakt8 53a-251(e)(1) when, “[a]s a result of his accessing
or causing to be accessed a computer systemidrgionally makes or causes to be made an
unauthorized display, use, disclosure or copy, in any form, of data residing in, communicated by
or produced by a computer system].]”

MEI was party to the Software Source Cddess and Indemnity Agreement. That
agreement authorized MEI to assé'the Source Code copy for thele purposef permitting
[MEI] to support its own licensed copies oétbomputer programs and databases by making

modifications to the current software and thatses required to meet [MEI]'s unique needs and
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objectives.” PIs.” Ex. 5 1 2.0 (emphasis addddprohibited MEI from using “any other item
made available . . . hereunder except as may be provided in this Agreeldefit3.0. Thus,

any use not provided for under the agreemenhgfitem that Plaintiffs made available under the
agreement was an unauthorized use.

MEI caused its agent, Edwin Pajemola, toesscField-Comm.net, which is a “computer
system” under the statute because “[c]lomputeresgsmeans a computer, [and] its software[.]”
Conn. Gen. Stat. § 53a-250(7). Edwin Pajenaclzessed that software, because “[a]ccess’
means to instruct, communicate with, store data iretrieve data fromm computer, computer
system or computer networkld. 8 53a-250(1). Edwin Pajed@ocommunicated with, and
retrieved data from, Field-Comm.net. The dasabables that Edwin Pajemola copied from
Field-Comm.net are “data” under the statute because “data” is defined broadly to include
“information of any kind in any form, including computer softwar&d” § 53a-250(8).

As a result of that access, Edwin Pajentdaeloped the Field Navigator software that
MEI used, which contained a significant noen of database tables identical to
Field-Comm.net’'s. Field Nagator was not a modification tield-Comm.net. It was a
different, web-based software. BecauseSb#ware Source Code Access and Indemnity
Agreement was entered into for the “solegmse” of allowing MEImodify its copy of
Field-Comm.net, PIs.” Ex. 5 1 2.0, and the agrenprohibited MEI from using “any other item
made available . . . hereunder excephay be provided in this Agreement[il. 3.0, the use
of Field-Comm.net database tablto develop Field Navigataras not authorized under the
Source Code Access and Indemnity Agreement.

MEI intentionally used Field Navigator its business beginning sometime in 2010.

Steven Maxim, MEI's president, knew that Eidlavigator was a differ¢, web-based system,
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and not merely a modification MEI’s copy of Field-Comm.net.

In sum, it appears that MEI may have violated the statute because, “[a]s a result of
[MELI's] accessing or causing to be accesseddF@zomm.net], [MEI] intentionally ma[de] or
cause[d] to be made an unauthorized display,diselosure or copy, in any form, of [database
tables] residing in, communicated by produced by [Field-Comm.net.]3eeConn. Gen. Stat. §
53a-251(e)(1).

However, Plaintiffs did not prove that MERgolation, if any, poximately caused their
harm. “It is axiomatic that damages recowdean tort must be proximately caused by a
defendant’s tortious conduct3olomon 196 Conn. at 385. “The requirement of proximate
cause is a less severe limitatmiiability than the requiremerf anticipation or foreseeability
in breach of contract cases. A proximate cau§a]is actual cause that &substantial factor in
the resulting harm . . . ."Meadowbrook Ctr., In¢.149 Conn. App. at 188 (quotindattegat v.
Klopfenstein50 Conn. App. 97, 105 (1998gccordElliott v. City of Waterbury245 Conn.

385, 402 (1998) (“[P]roximate caupexists when] the defendant®gligence was a substantial
factor in causing the plaintiff's injuries and..the harm which occurred was of the same general
nature as the foreseeable risk credgthe defendant’s negligence.”) (quotiRigming v.

Garnett 231 Conn. 77, 86 (1994)).

Plaintiffs failed to prove that MEI’s vialtion, if any, was a substantial factor in
producing their injury because (a) as discussgutaat Part I1.B, there was a delay between
MEI’s use of Field Navigator and Plaintiffs’ lose§ customer revenue, and Plaintiffs did not
prove that their loss of revenue beginning “stime” in 2011 was caused by MEI’s use of Field
Navigator rather than CFS’s licgeing activities with A&M and Beghorst in late 2011; and (b)

Plaintiffs did not establish th#tte software that CFS licensedA&M and Berghorst contained
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any Field-Comm.net elemenis.

The experts only compared Field-Comm.neht® Field Navigator software that MEI
used. Plaintiffs presented no technical evoderegarding the software that CFS licensed to
Berghorst and A&M. As a reltuthe Court does not find thtat software contained any
Field-Comm.net elements. Thus, Plaintiffs did not provihat a Maxim Defendant’s computer-
related offense, if any, was a substantial faict@ny injury caused by CFS’s licensing software
to Berghorst and A&M.

2. PajemolaDefendants

Accepting as true the allegations in the Yled Complaint, except allegations pertaining
to damages, and drawing all reasonable infereincBkintiffs’ favor, the Court will, for the
reasons discussedpraat Part II.L.1, enter default judgment against the Pajemola Defendants
on Count Twelve. Again, because of the Pajerbatendants’ defaults and discovery failures,
the Court found, as to the Pajemola Defendanlg, that the software that CFS licensed to
Berghorst and A&M contained éld-Comm.net database tables.

The statute authorizes recovery of “actual damagkek.™[A]ctual damages are
synonymous with compensatory damages and with general dama&gsispoli v. Cooke43
Conn. App. 419, 427 (1996). They mustdreved with reasonable certaintgee, e.gBeverly

Hills Concepts, In¢.247 Conn. at 69;awson 241 Conn. at 689. As discussegraat Part 11.B

19 For the reasons discussaepraat Part 11.B, the Court also finds tHatlwin Pajemola and CFS were not acting
within the scope of any employment relationship waitly Maxim Defendant when CFS licensed software to
Berghorst and A&M.Cf. Larsen Chelsey Rity Co. v. Larsen232 Conn. 480, 500 (1995) (“Under the doctrine of
respondeat superior, a master is liable for the wilfustortis servant committed within the scope of the servant’s
employment and in furtherance of his master’s business.”).

1 In addition to the absence of evidence regardingettienical makeup of the software that CFS licensed to
Berghorst and A&M, Edwin Pajemola testified that A&M commissioned him to develop customized software f
A&M, and that the software he developed had “somdaiities” to the software that MEI was using, but the
“starting points” were different because A&M'’s réguments were different, Pls.’ Ex. 26 at 18:dflseq, and
testified that he built the software that CFS licensefi&M “from scratch” based on A&M'’s requirementd, at
1:18:40.
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and Part Il.E, Plaintiffs failed to prowetual damages withasonable certainty.

The statute also authorizes recovery ohdges for unjust enrichment. Conn. Gen. Stat.

8 52-570b(c). As discussedprg Plaintiffs established $250,000 in unjust enrichment damages
against Pajemola Defendants. But the Court already awarded Plaintiffs those damages under
CUTSA, and double recovery is prohibite8ee Chapman Lumber, Inc. v. Tagg88 Conn. 69,

111 (2008). However, the statute authorizes “treble damages when there has been a showing of
wilful and malicious conduct.ld. As discussedupraat Part 11.K.2, the Court found that

Pajemola Defendants engaged in wilful andieraus conduct, and therefore will treble the

unjust enrichment damages under Conn. Gen. SE*-50b(c), resulting in an additional award

of $500,000.

Finally, the statute providebat “the court shall awar any aggrieved person who
prevails, reasonable costs aedsonable attorney’s feekl. § 52-570b(e). The Court already
awarded Plaintiffs reasonable attorney’s feeder CUTSA, but will award reasonable costs
under Conn. Gen. Stat. § 52-570b(e).

The Court imposes joint and several liability Edwin Pajemola and CFS for all relief
awarded hereunder. “Where two or more pessonite in an act which constitutes a wrong to
another, intending at the time to commit itjmidoing it under circumstances which fairly
charge them with intending the consequendeish follow, they incur a joint and several
liability for the acts of each and all of the joint participant8ito v. Hill, 214 Conn. 1, 6 (1990).
The Court finds that Edwin Pajemola and CF®adh concert to coplield-Comm.net database
tables and license competing software contgi those tables to A&M and Berghorsiart,

Nininger & Campbell Assocs., Inc. v. Rogelr§ Conn. App. 619, 630 (1988) (trial court

properly imposed joint and sevelability on defendants who aadl in concert to solicit and
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induce plaintiffs’ clients in vi@tion of noncompetitive covenants).

M. Count Thirteen: Violation of Connecticut Unfair Trade Practices Act
(“CUTPA”) by Defendants

In Count Thirteen, Plaintiffs claim thBtefendants violated CUTPA by competing with

East Point.SeeVerified Compl. 11 216-34.
1. Maxim Defendants

CUTPA provides that “[n]o person shall eggan unfair methods of competition and
unfair or deceptive acts or practices in tbaduct of any trade or commerce.” Conn. Gen. Stat.
8§ 42-110b(a). It further providesatii[a]ny person who suffers amgcertainable loss of money
or property, real or personal, asesult of the use or emplognt of a method, act or practice
prohibited by section 42-110b, may bringation to recover actual damage$d. § 42-
110g(a). “The court may, in its discretion, award punitive damages and may provide such
equitable relief as it deems necessary or propel.”

CUTPA applies to a “broad spectrum of commercial activityaisen Chelsey Realty
Co. v. Larsen232 Conn. 480, 492 (1995). “[I]t is construed liberally in an eftogffectuate its
public policy goals.”Landmark Inv. Grp., LLC VCALCO Const. & Dev. Cp318 Conn. 847,
881 (2015) (quotingportsmen’s Boating Corp. v. Hensl&é®2 Conn. 747, 75@.984)). In
determining whether a practice violates TRA, courts consider “(1) whether tpeactice,
without necessarily having been previoustnsidered unlawfubffends public policyas it has
been established by statutes, the commondawtherwise—whether, in other wordsisitwithin
at least the penumbra of some common-k&atutory, or other established conceptinfairness;
(2) whether it is immoralJnethical, oppressive, anscrupulous; (3) whetheraauses
substantial injury to consumers (or competitors or other businessni@ayrior v. Hi-

Tech Homesl49 Conn. App. 267, 275 (2014). The pldfntiust prove that the unfair or
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deceptive trade practice proximatelused the ascertainable logdrahams v. Young &
Rubicam, Ing.240 Conn. 300, 306 (1997).

The analysis of the CUTPA claim is somewd#ferent from the aalysis of Plaintiffs’
CUTSA, computer-related offense, and copyrigiingement claims.Those claims concern
misappropriation of Field-Comm.net elementsjlevthe CUTPA claim potentially covers a
broader range of activity, inafling Maxim Defendants’ compatie activity, without regard to
whether Field-Comm.net code was copied or used in that competitive acBeiylLarsen
Chelsey Realty Co. v. Larsez82 Conn. 480, 492 (1995) (“CUTPA, by its own terms, applies to
a broad spectrum of commercial activity.”). Wver, although it appears that Steven Maxim,
MEI, and MFSS may have engaged in an unfairgiaéctice, the Court deeot find that their
conduct proximately caused Plaintiffs’ ascerédle loss.

First, Plaintiffs proved that they sufferad ascertainable loss. The Supreme Court of
Connecticut has held that “the words ‘any astedble loss’ as used in [CUTPA] do not require
a plaintiff to prove a specific amount of actual damages . Hinthliffe v. Am. Motors Corp.
184 Conn. 607, 612-13 (1981). Therefore, Plaintiffdure to prove their damages with
reasonable certainty is not fatal to their CUTPA claBeverly Hills Concepts, Inc247 Conn.
at 79 (plaintiff's failure to prove damages wittasonable certainty “df] not dispose of the
CUTPA claim” because “[ulnder CUTPA, therenis need to allege or prove the amount of the
ascertainable loss.”) (quotirtdinchliffe, 184 Conn. at 614). Plaintiffroved that they lost
customer revenue beginning sometime in 20dich satisfies the requirement to show
ascertainable lossSee Hinchliffel84 Conn. at 613 (“loss” ®&/nonymous with “deprivation,
detriment and injury[,]” and a “loss is ascertiie if it is measurableven though the precise

amount of the loss is not known”).
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Second, Steven Maxim, MEI, and MFSS mayéangaged in an unfair trade practice by
using Field Navigator. When&ten Maxim grew dissatisfiedithr Field-Comm.net, Plaintiffs
authorized MEI to modify its copy of Field-@on.net to meet its busss needs and wants.
Steven Maxim and Edwin Pajemola then developask Tracker, and preded it to Plaintiffs.
Plaintiffs did object to MEI'suse of Task Tracker, and MEbmtinued to use Field-Comm.net
and Task Tracker in its business.

When MEI started using Field Navigaia 2010, Steven Maxim knew that Field
Navigator was not a modification Eeld-Comm.net, but rathemew, web-based software that
did what Field-Comm.net did — fditate the processing of workders for property preservation
services. This time, Defendants did ndomim Plaintiffs about Field Navigator.

As a result of his position on the Board, and his Confidentiality and Non-Competition
Agreement, Steven Maxim owed a duatyt to compete with East PoingeePls.” Exs. 3, 14see,
e.g, Katz Corp. v. T. H. Canty & Co168 Conn. 201, 207 (1975) (director occupies fiduciary
position of the highest trust and is boundise utmost good faith and fair dealing with
corporation). MEI also owed a duty notdompete with East Point as a result of its
Confidentiality and Non-Competition Agreement. PIs.” Ex. 14. The agreements included broad
prohibitions on competition:

... MAXIM shall not directly or indirectly (whether as

shareholder, partner, joint vemér, principal, agent, officer,

director, employee, contractor, consultant or otherwise, alone or in
association with any other personentity) carryon, share in the
profits of or be engaged or tagart in any business which is
engaged, wholly or partially, in the production, development,
marketing or sales of computerftszare to the mortgage servicing

industry and its independent fietdntractors and/or any business
closely related to the business of EPS ... ."

Pls.” Ex. 3 1 3.A; PIs.” Ex. 14 § 3.A.

By developing Field Navigator, Steven kilm, MEI, and MFSS likely “engaged, wholly
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or partially, in the production . . . [or] developnben. of computer software to the mortgage
servicing industry and its indepemddield contractors . . . .ld.

In light of Steven Maxim’s position ahe Board, and his and MEI's non-competition
obligations, Steven Maxim, MEI, and MF&&y have engaged in an unscrupulous trade
practice that offended public pafievhen they developed and usedoftware that performed the
same essential functions as Bi€lomm.net but did not make money for East Point, and did not
inform East Point about this softwar€f. Ostrowski v. Aver43 Conn. 355, 379 (1997)
(“actions outside the scope of the employnmretdtionship designed ‘to usurp the business and
clientele of one corporation favor of another . . . fit squely within the provenance of
CUTPA.™) (quotingFink v. Golenbock238 Conn. 183, 212 (1996)).

However, the Court does not find thastbonduct proximately caused Plaintiffs’
ascertainable loss. As notedpra “[a] proximate causes ‘[a]n actual cause that is a substantial
factor in the restihg harm . . . .” Meadowbrook Ctr., In¢.149 Conn. App. at 188 (quoting
Mattegat 50 Conn. App. at 105).

The Court recognizes that tf@rces may combine to causelaintiff's injury, and that
if a defendant’s conduct was a substantial faict@roducing that injty, the defendant would
not be relieved from liabilitgven though another force contriedtto producing the injury.
Wagner v. Clark Equip. Co243 Conn. 168, 179-80 (1997). But the Court does not find or infer
that any Maxim Defendant’s use of Field Navigator was a subdttattiar in Plaintiffs’ loss of
customers or revenuéCf. Serv. Rd. Corp. v. Quing41 Conn. 630, 639-40 (trial court could
have inferred that defendants’ conduct caused loss of customers). In light of the delay between
METI’s use of Field Navigator and Plaintiffs’ loe§ customer revenue, Plaintiffs’ failure to show

that their customer revenue deeld in 2011 as a result of MEI's use of Field Navigator as
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opposed to CFS’s licensing activitieslate 2011, and their failure show that the software that
CFS licensed to A&M and Berghorst contairt@édld-Comm.net elements, the Court concludes
that Plaintiffs did not estabhsthe requisite causal relationglietween any Maxim Defendant’s
use or development of Field Navigaand their ascertainable losSee, e.gNationwide Mut.
Ins. Co. v. Mortenser606 F.3d 22, 31 (2d Cir. 2010) (affinng district court’s dismissal of
CUTPA claim where plaintiff ins@nce company did not show ttefendant insurance agents’
competitive conduct caused plaintiff to lose customers) (c@umn, 241 Conn. at 642-44 and
Hinchliffe, 184 Conn. at 613-15).

2. PajemolaDefendants

For the reasons discuss&gpraat Part I1.M.1, and in lightf Pajemola Defendants’
defaults and discovery failures, the Court fititlst Pajemola Defendants engaged in an unfair
trade practice by developing Field Navigagoftware that contained elements of
Field-Comm.net, which was an unauthorized usder the Software Source Code Access and
Indemnity Agreement to which Edwin Pajemulas party, and licensing that software to A&M
and Berghorst, two of East Point’s “lifeline” acods, which caused Plaintiffs to lose revenue
from A&M and Berghorst.

CUTPA authorizes recovery of actual damagesiitive damages, equitable relief, costs,
and reasonable attorney’s fees. Conn. Gen. &at2-110g(a), (d). Plaintiffs did not prove
actual damages with reasonable certaintyCibert will not award punitive damages under
CUTPA, in addition to the putive damages already awarded under CUTSA, and the Court
already awarded reasonable costs dtairey’s fees. The Court addressdsa Plaintiffs’

request for injunctive relief under QPA against the Pajemola Defendants.
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N. Count Fourteen: Copyright Infringement

In Count Fourteen, Plaintiffs claim thBefendants infringed their copyright in
Field-Comm.net and that Plaintiffs sufferedrdages as a result. Verified Compl. 11 235-48.

1. Maxim Defendants

A party who prevails on a copyright inigement claim under the Copyright Act of 1976
may recover either (a) actual damages plus any additional profits of the infringer not taken into
account in computing actual damages, or (@usbry damages. 17 U.S.C. 88 504(a)-(b). The
plaintiff may elect, at any time before finadigment is entered, to recover statutory damages
instead of actual damages and proflts. 8 504(c)(1).

It appears that Plaintiffs didot elect to pursue statutory damages. Even if they had, that
claim would fail because a plaintiff is not entitledstatutory damages or attorney’s fees if the
infringement commenced before the effectiveedd the copyright registration, or if the
infringement commenced after figsublication of the work and ba®the effective date of the
copyright registration unlessehegistration was made within three months after first
publication. Seel7 U.S.C. § 412Ez-Tixz, Inc. v. Hit-Tix, Inc919 F. Supp. 728, 735 (S.D.N.Y.
1996) (citingKnitwaves, Inc. v. Lollytogs Ltd. (Incj1 F.3d 996, 1012 (2d Cir. 1995)). The
effective date of Plaintiffstopyright registration was Novemab20, 2012. Pls.” Ex. 7. The
infringement, if any, commenced before thaiedaRegistration was not made within three
months after first publication on June 30, 2009.

Turning to actual damages, the Court fitlaist Plaintiffs did not prove that any
infringement by any Maxim Defendboaused their actual damages. The statute provides that a
“copyright owner is entitled tcecover the actual damages suffdogchim or her as a result of

the infringement, and any profits of the infringeatthAre attributable tthe infringement and are
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not taken into account in computing theumttdamages.” 17 U.S.C. § 504(b).

Assumingarguendathat the Field Navigator softmathat Maxim Defendants used
infringed Plaintiffs’ copyrightPlaintiffs did not prove thateir claimed actual damages
occurred as a result of tirdringement. As discusseliprg Plaintiffs did not show that their
revenue declined as a resultMEI's use of Field Navigatoas opposed to CFS'’s licensing
activities. Moreover, as to the Maxim Deélants, Plaintiffs di not prove that any
Field-Comm.net elements were present engbftware that CFS licensed to A&M and
Berghorst. Finally, Plairffis failed to prove adequdyetheir actual damagesee Abeshouse v.
Ultragraphics, Inc, 754 F.2d 467, 470 (2d Cir. 1985) (awartter 8§ 504(b) may not be based
upon undue speculation), and while the statute allbwgpyright owner to “present proof only
of the infringer’s gross revenue” in establishthg infringer’s additiongbrofits not taken into
account in computing actual damages, 17 U.S.G03%a)(1), (b), Plaintiffs did not prove that
any Maxim Defendant received revenue from Fie&vigator. Count Fourteen fails against the
Maxim Defendants.

2. PajemolaDefendants

Count Fourteen also fails against fejemola Defendants. As discussegra
Plaintiffs cannot recovestatutory damages or attorney’s feéegause the infringement, if any,
commenced before the effective date of thepyeight registration. Mowver, Plaintiffs failed
to prove adequately ¢ir actual damagesSee Abeshouséb4 F.2d at 470 (award under 8
504(b) may not be based upon undue speculation).

The statute allows a prevailing plaintiff to recover additional profithe infringer not
taken into account in compog actual damages, and providest th plaintiff may prove those

additional profits by showing the infringer’'sags revenue, which shifts the burden to the
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infringer to prove deductiblexpenses. 17 U.S.C. § 504(b).

Section 504(b) “was intended torpet a recovery of actual damagassthe infringer’s
profits. The latter measure, however, is recdvleranly if and to the @gnt that such profits
have not already been taken into account ingrding the actual damages. This part of the
statute is designed to prevent a cumulatieevery of plaintiff's damages and defendant’s
profits where defendant’s profits constitute nothing more than a measure of the damages suffered
by the [plaintiff].” Pret-A-Printee, Ltd. vAllton Knitting Mills, Inc, No. 81 Civ. 3770 (WCC),
1982 WL 1788, at *7 (S.D.N.Y. Sef6, 1982) (emphasis in origih internal quotation marks
and citation omitted). Thus, while it would peper to award additional profits “where the
copyright owner has suffered damagesrefiected in the infringer’s profits Abeshouser54
F.2d at 470 (quoting H.R. Rep. No. 1476, 94th Ca2dg) Sess. 161), Plaintiffs relied solely on
Pajemola Defendants’ profits as timeasure of their actual damagesePIls.” Mem. Supp. Mot.
Def. Judg. at 18, ECF No. 152-1, atid not show that they suffed damages not reflected in
those profits.

0. Count Fifteen: Constructive Trust

In Count Fifteen, Plaintiffs seek to estahle constructive trust over “property, revenue,
and proceeds” held by Defendants and deriveh fnoauthorized use of &htiffs’ software.
SeeVerified Compl. 1 250-56.

1. Maxim Defendants

Plaintiffs did not address thdifteenth claim in their post-trldriefs or closing argument
despite Maxim Defendants’ addresgiit in their post-trial brief.Defs.’ Br. at 38-39. As a
result, it may be abandoned as to Maxim Defenddbtg, Ortho Pharm. Corp. v. Cosprophar,

Inc., 828 F. Supp. 1114, 1129 (S.D.N.Y. 1993) (plaintily have abandoned claim that it did
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not address in its post-bench-trial briefs after defendahalidressed it in its briefff'd, 32
F.3d 690 (2d Cir. 1994). Nonetheless, in haralance of caution, theoGrt will address it.

“[A] constructive trust arisewhere a person who holds titlepiooperty is subject to an
equitable duty to convey it to another on the gbthat he would be unjustly enriched if he
were permitted to retain it.Cohen v. Coherl82 Conn. 193, 203 (1980). “The issue raised by a
claim for a constructive trust is, in essence, whether a party has committed actual or constructive
fraud or whether he or sheshlaeen unjustly enrichedCadle Co. v. Gabeb9 Conn. App. 279,
295 (2002)see also United Coastal Indus., Inc. v. Clearheart Const. ToConn. App. 506,
511 (2002) (equitable claims such as unjust enricitffege meant to provide an alternative basis
for recovery in the event of a failureppoove . . . breach of contract . . . .").

As discussedupra the Software Source Codedess and Indemnity Agreement
provided “access to the Source Code copy fosthe purpose of permitting [MEI] to support its
own licensed copies of the computer programg databases by making modifications to the
current software and databases required to fiveiel|’s unique needs and objectives.” Pls.’ Ex.
59 2.0. It prohibited the use of “any other itenmrdmavailable . . . hereunder except as may be
provided in this Agreement.Id. 1 3.0. The Field Navigator safare that MEI used was not a
modification to Field-Comm.net. It was a diffateweb-based software. Given the similarity
between the databases of Field Navigatorkiatii-Comm.net, the Court finds that Maxim
Defendants used an item made available utideSoftware Source Code Access and Indemnity
Agreement, specifically, Fiel@omm.net database tables, égpurpose other than the “sole
purpose” permitted under that agreement. To allow the Maxim Defendants to retain software
developed in part through an wrlaorized use of Field-Comm.net database tables would result in

unjust enrichment. Under its equitable powdrsrefore, the Court Wimpose a constructive
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trust over any Field Navigator softwareMaxim Defendantspossession containing
Field-Comm.net database tables.

Plaintiffs did not prove thaany Maxim Defendant received revenue or proceeds from
Field Navigator. Therefore, the Court will redtablish a constructiveust on any revenue or
proceeds in the Maxim Defendants’ possession.

2. PajemolaDefendants

Because Edwin Pajemola was party toSlétware Source Code Access and Indemnity
Agreement, and for the reasons discussgmtaat Part 11.0.1, the Court will impose a
constructive trust againstdlPajemola Defendants.

As notedsuprg a constructive trust may be appropriatéhe case of unjust enrichment.
“Unjust enrichment is, consistent with the miples of equity, a brahand flexible remedy.
Plaintiffs seeking recovery for unjust enrichmhenust prove (1) thahe defendants were
benefited, (2) that the defendantgustly did not pay the plaintifffor the benefits, and (3) that
the failure of payment was to the plaintiffs’ detrimentiartford Whalers Hockey Clyt231
Conn. at 283.

Accepting as true Plaintiffs’ allegations against the Pajemola Defendants, except
allegations pertaining to damagasd drawing all reasonable inéaces in Plaintiffs’ favor, the
Court finds that Edwin Pajemola accessed F&bdrm.net's database under the Software Source
Code Access and Indemnity Agreement, credd/ative softwarén violation of his
obligations under that agreement, and C&&ived revenue from licensing the derivative
software. SeeVerified Compl. 11 75, 80-81, 85-86, 108-11, 145.

“[T]he measure of damages in an unjust@nrient case ordinarikg not the loss to the

plaintiff but the benefit to the defendantfartford Whalers Hockey Clyl231 Conn. at 285. As
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notedsupraat Part II.E, Edwin Pajeola offered a “guesstimate” that he made a $250,000 profit
from the $400,000 in revenue that CFS receiverhfits licensing transactions with A&M and
Berghorst. While this evidence waot sufficient to prove Plaiffits’ lost profits with reasonable
certainty, the Court finds that, given the Pajenidddendants’ defaults and their failure, despite
Court order, to produce a computer containindarlying financial records, it is sufficient to
prove the benefit to the defendéot unjust enrichment purposeSeeFed. R. Civ. P.

37(b)(2)(A). However, since the Court already has awarded damages for this same amount, it
would result in a double recovery to impose a troietive trust on the sanfands. Accordingly,
the Court does not do so. The Court will, leeer, impose a constructive trust on any Field
Navigator software in the Pajemola Defendapbssession containingdhil-Comm.net database
tables.

P. Permanentinjunction

Plaintiffs seek, under various statutesgmgoin permanently Defendants from using or
otherwise disposing of software derivative aélBtComm.net. Plaintiffdid not address this
“drastic remedy[,]"Gilliam v. Am. Broad. Cos., Inc538 F.2d 14, 27 (2d Cir. 1976), in their
post-trial briefs or closing argument. As auk, these claims may be abandoned as to Maxim
Defendants.SeeOrtho Pharm. Corp.828 F. Supp. at 1129. Nonetbsd, in an abundance of
caution, the Court will address them.

The standard for a permanent injunction is essentially the same as the standard for a
preliminary injunction, except that the movingtyainstead of showing likelihood of success
on the merits, must show actual success on the mémnt®co Prod. Co. v. Vill. of Gambell, AK
480 U.S. 531, 546 n.12 (1987). To obtain a prelary injunction, a party must demonstrate

that it is “likely to suffer irreparable injury if lief is denied but also #t there is either (1) a
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likelihood of success on the merits or (2) suffitigserious questions going to the merits to
make them a fair ground for litigation, withbalance of hardships tipping decidedly in the
plaintiff's favor.” Procter & Gamble Co. v. Chesebrough-Pond’s |@é7 F.2d 114, 118 (2d
Cir. 1984). The irreparable harm mustitmeninent, not remote or speculativ®larriott v. Cty.
of Montgomery426 F. Supp. 2d 1, 11 (N.D.N.Y. 2006). Hawe the “imminent” aspect is not
crucial to granting a permanent injunctidRodriguez ex rel. Rodriguez v. DeBuph@5 F.3d
227, 235 (2d Cir. 1999). The party seeking a peanaimjunction must show the absence of an
adequate remedy at lawatsy’s Italian Rest., Inc. v. Bana58 F.3d 254, 272 (2d Cir. 2011).
1. Maxim Defendants

While the imminence aspect is ravticial, Plaintiffs still must show that they are likely to
suffer irreparable harrf. As notedsupra Plaintiffs did not brief tts issue with respect to
Maxim Defendants. The Court will not enfgermanent injunctions against the Maxim
Defendants because (a) the evidence shovadstieven Maxim, MEI, and MFSS are no longer
operating in the property presation industry, and (b) the Qd has imposed a constructive
trust in Plaintiffs’ favor oveany Field Navigator software iDefendants’ possession containing
Field-Comm.net database tablée S.E.C. v. Dibell&o. 3:04-cv-01342 (EBB), 2008 WL
6965807, at *12 (D. Conn. Mar. 13, 2008) (for perararinjunction, there must be “some
cognizable danger of recurrent violation, sometmmge than the mere possibility which serves
to keep the case alive.”) (quoti®E.C. v. Steadmaf67 F.2d 636, 648 (D.C. Cir. 1992)),

aff'd, 587 F.3d 553 (2d Cir. 2009)).

12 A plaintiff need not show irreparable harm to obtain injunctive relief under CUHaikchild Heights Residents
Ass’n, Inc. v. Fairchild Heights, Inc310 Conn. 797, 805 n.6 (2014). But Plaintiffs did not establish that a Maxim
Defendant’s unfair trade practicaused their ascertainable lo&eeQuinn 241 Conn. at 644 (fact that plaintiff

fails to prove particular loss or extent of loss doetsforeclose injunctive relief under CUTPA if reasonable
inference can be drawn that uinfaiade practice caused loss).
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2. PajemolaDefendants

Plaintiffs prevailed on their CUTPA claim against Pajemola Defendants, and CUTPA
does not require Plaintiffs to demonstrateparable harm to obtain injunctive reliEgirchild
Heights, Inc, 310 Conn. at 805 n.@ristol Tech., Inc. v. Microsoft Corpl14 F. Supp. 2d 59,
95-96, 99 (D. Conn. 2000) (noting that state suttista law applies to request for permanent
injunction, and that plaintiff who prevails on TBA claim may seek injunctive relief without
establishing irreparable harnvgcated on other ground250 F.3d 152 (2d Cir. 2001).
Accordingly, the Court will enjoin permaniynthe Pajemola Defendants from using or
otherwise disposing of software containing Field-Comm.niettdee tables.

Although Edwin Pajemola testified thaFS had no customers and was not doing any
business, Pls.” Ex. 26 at 02:30, the ordinary requeég to show imminent irreparable harm does
not apply, and the Court deems it “necessarymoder” under Conn. Geftat. § 42-110g(a) to
enjoin the Pajemola Defendants from potdiytieactivating CFS’s business and licensing
competing software containing Field-Comm.net database tabies dwindled population of
mortgage field servicesontractors that makes up East Point’s potential customer base. The
Court concludes that East Point does not havedaguate remedy at law because, as evidenced
by their defaults in this matter, the Pajembkfendants have been out of communication, and
doubt exists as to whether Pajemola Defendaetslale to pay the judgment in this caSee
Defs.’ Br. at 39¢.g, Painewebber Inc. v. Nwogugho. 98 Civ. 2441 (DLC), 1998 WL 545327,
at *2 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 26, 1998) (n@mdequate remedy at law whereves unlikely that defendant
would be able to pay the judgmentyansamerica Rental Fin. Corp. v. Rental Exper@o F.
Supp. 378, 382 (D. Conn. 1992) (no adequate remddyathere defendant’s ability to pay

judgment was in doubt).
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. MOTIONS

A. Motion for Contempt and Motion to Dismiss Counterclaims for Failure to
Prosecute (ECF No. 149 and ECF No. 150)

The Pajemola Defendants were representetbbpsel for nearly a year at the beginning
of this case. When their cowsvithdrew in March 2014, the Court notified them that “if an
appearance is not entered in their behalff,] they will not receive notice of court proceedings and
judgment against them on plaintiff’'s claimmay enter and their counterclaim(s) dismissed
without further notice.” Order, ECF No. 71. &Rajemola Defendants did not appear, engage
successor counsel, or prosecute tbklaims and defenses any further.

On April 30, 2015, the Court granted in pantadenied in part Plaintiffs’ motion to
compel the Pajemola Defendants to respond taicediscovery requests. Ruling on Pls.” Mot.
Compel at 1, ECF No. 141. The@t declined to hold the Pajeftadefendants in contempt at
that time, but allowed Plaintiffs to renew theirtioa to hold them in contempt if they failed to
comply with the Court’s orderld. at 5. The Pajemola Defendants failed to comply with the
order, and Plaintiffs renewed their motion. Plifi;m ask the Court to impose a fine and dismiss
the Pajemola Defendants’ courtlaims. ECF Nos. 149. Plaifi also move under Rule 41(b)
to dismiss the Pajemola Defendants’ coungenas for failure to prosecute. ECF No. 150.

If a party fails to obey aubpoena or an order to providescovery, the Court may hold
that party in contempt. Fed. Riv. P. 37(b)(2)(A)(vii), 45(g).This Court has discretion in
imposing sanctions for discovery failures, bubgld consider “(1) the willfulness of the
non-compliant party or the reason for noncompliaf2gthe efficacy of lesser sanctions; (3) the
duration of the period of noncompliance; gd)lwhether the non-compliant party had been
warned of the consequences of . . . noncompliandétld Wide Polymers, Inc. v. Shinkong

Synthetic Fibers Corp694 F.3d 155, 159 (2d Cir. 2012) (quotisgiwal v. Mid Island Mortg.
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Corp,, 555 F.3d 298, 302 (2d Cir. 2009)).

The Court finds the Pajemola Defendantsontempt under Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure 37 and 45 for failing to comply witle Court’s order compelling them to respond to
Plaintiffs’ and the Maxim Defendants’ discovery requests, and, under Rule 37(b)(2)(A) and Rule
41(b), will dismiss all of their claims amst Plaintiffs and the Maxim Defendants.

Dismissal of the Pajemola Defendants’ klaiis an appropriatanction because their
failures to appear, respond to discovery requests, and prosecute their claims were willful. At the
beginning of this case, they engaged counsapparent recognition of their responsibility to
participate in this action. But since theaunsel withdrew, they have been willfully non-
compliant with this Court’s orders for yearssgie the Court’s warningf the consequences of
non-compliance See, e.g.Trans World Airlines, Inc. v. Hughe332 F.2d 602, 614 (2d Cir.
1964) (district court did not err in dismissingunterclaims of party who willfully failed to
appear for deposition with knowledge of conseqjia¢ sanctions). Dismissal of the Pajemola
Defendants’ counterclaims also is appropriatdar Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 41(b) for
failure to prosecuteE.g, Livecchi v. U.S. Dep’t of Hous. & Urban De®53 F. App’x 16, 17
(2d Cir. 2005) (districcourt did not err irdismissing claim opro separty who did not pursue
his claim for over one year, and court warned thiftire to prosecute could result in dismissal).

B. Maxim Defendants’ Motion for Default Judgment

The Maxim Defendants moved for default judgmhagainst the Pajemola Defendants.
ECF No. 151. They later informed the Cousdttidue in part to their understanding of the
Pajemola Defendants’ financiattion, they no longer wish fursue their claims against the
Pajemola Defendants, but do seek default judgiethieir favor with repect to the Pajemola

Defendants’ claims against them. Defs.’ Br3@t Because the Court already dismissed the

49



Pajemola Defendants’ claims against the Makiefendants, the Court finds as moot the Maxim
Defendants’ motion for default judgment.
IV.  CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiffs’ Manifor Contempt (ECF No. 149) is GRANTED
IN PART AND DENIED IN PART. Plaintiffs’ Maion to Dismiss Counterclaims for Failure to
Prosecute (ECF No. 150) is GRANTED. Ptdfs’ Motion for Default Judgment (ECF No.
152) is GRANTED IN PART AND DENIED INPART. Maxim Defendants’ Motion for
Default Judgment (ECF No. 151) is FOUMS MOOT. The Clerk shall enter judgment

consistent with this memorandum and close this case.

SO ORDERED at Bridgeport, Connecticut this twenty-second day of March, 2016.

/s/ Victor A. Bolden
VICTOR A. BOLDEN
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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